

Ohio Legislative Service Commission

Office of Research and Drafting Legislative Budget Office

S.B. 157 [*] 135 th General Assembly	Bill Analysis	
	Click here for S.B. 157's Fiscal Note	
Version: As Reported by House Insurance		

Primary Sponsor: Sen. Lang

Nick Thomas, Research Analyst Larry Gunter, Jr., Research Analyst

SUMMARY

Financial products involving motor vehicles

- Exempts "excess wear and use waivers," i.e., contracts that nullify fees that might otherwise be owed at the end of a motor vehicle lease agreement for driving too many miles or damaging the vehicle, from state insurance laws.
- Prohibits conditioning terms of a motor vehicle lease on the consumer's payment for an excess wear and use waiver.
- Expands the existing insurance law exemption for motor vehicle "debt cancellation or debt suspension products" to include products that provide a financial benefit for the purchase of a new vehicle.
- Limits the current requirement that debt cancellation or debt suspension products be listed as a specific good when invoiced to the consumer to "optional" products that are not a condition of the sale.
- Exempts optional debt cancellation or debt suspension products from state law limitations on interest and finance charges.
- Expands the types of agreements that qualify as "ancillary product protection contracts" and, thus, are exempted from state insurance laws to include certain contracts that protect against lease-end charges, vehicle value protection agreements, and contracts involving under-speed vehicles.

^{*} This analysis was prepared before the report of the House Insurance Committee appeared in the House Journal. Note that the legislative history may be incomplete.

- Requires providers of "vehicle value protection agreements," i.e., agreements that provide a benefit to the purchaser when a vehicle is lost, stolen, damaged, obsolete, or diminished in value, to allow a 30-day period for the contract holder to cancel the agreement so long as no benefits have been paid.
- Establishes procedures and requirements for contract providers that seek to cancel a vehicle value protection agreement.

Retail installment contracts

- Eliminates the requirement that any retail installment contract arising out of a consumer transaction be payable in substantially equal consecutive installments, instead requiring such contracts to be payable in periodic installments which need not be consecutive or substantially equal.
- Requires contracts that include a final scheduled installment that is more than two times the average of all prior scheduled installments to allow the buyer to refinance the contract under terms no less favorable than the original contract.

Replica motor vehicles

- Authorizes a person to register a replica motor vehicle (which is a vehicle that intends to replicate another motor vehicle that is at least 25 years old), for limited operation on public roads and highways.
- Authorizes the owner of a replica motor vehicle to request that the certificate of title indicate that the vehicle is a replica vehicle, and establishes procedures for issuance of the certificate of title.
- Exempts replica motor vehicles from certain requirements (e.g., emissions, noise control, and fuel usage) that were not in effect in the year of manufacture that the vehicle replicates.

Expired registration on a rental motor vehicle

- Exempts the operator of a rental vehicle from the prohibition against driving without a valid motor vehicle registration when all of the following apply:
 - The operator has a valid and effective rental agreement with a motor vehicle renting dealer;
 - □ At the time of the offense, the operator provides the valid written agreement to the peace officer or state highway patrol officer enforcing the prohibition; and
 - □ The operator has not removed, concealed, or modified the license plate or validation sticker as placed or attached by the motor vehicle renting dealer or its affiliate.
- Places the liability for fees, fines, and penalties arising from the violation of the prohibition on the registered owner of the rental motor vehicle.

Ohio Assigned Risk Insurance Plan

 Requires insurance agents to take certain actions to confirm that a person seeking automobile insurance through the Ohio Assigned Risk Insurance Plan is unable to secure coverage through private insurers.

Uninsured drivers

Expands the persons who may report a driver or owner of a motor vehicle involved in an accident to the Bureau of Motor Vehicles for failure to maintain financial responsibility to include any person who suffers injury or property damage, as opposed to only persons who are also drivers of a vehicle involved in the accident.

Madeline's Law

- Requires health plan issuers to cover hearing aids and related services for persons 21 years of age and younger.
- Names the requirement "Madeline's Law."

Prescription drug readers

- Requires a licensed terminal distributor of dangerous drugs, such as a pharmacy, to notify a purchaser of a prescription drug at retail of the availability of a prescription drug reader and to make the reader available on request.
- Requires health benefit plans and Medicaid to cover prescription readers provided by a terminal distributor.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Financial products involving motor vehicles	. 4
Overview	. 4
Excess wear and use waivers	. 4
Debt cancellation or debt suspension products	. 5
Ancillary product protection contracts	. 5
Protection against lease-end charges	. 6
Vehicle value protection agreements	. 6
Characteristics	. 6
Cancellation by contract holder	. 6
Cancellation by contract provider	. 7
Under-speed vehicles	. 7
Retail installment contracts	. 7
Replica motor vehicles	. 8
Replica motor vehicle registration	. 8
Replica motor vehicle designation on certificate of title	. 9

Equipment exemptions for replica motor vehicles	10
Effective date	
Expired registration on a rental motor vehicle	10
Ohio Assigned Risk Insurance Plan	11
Uninsured drivers	12
Madeline's Law	12
Hearing aid coverage	12
Exemption from review by the Superintendent of Insurance	13
Name of the bill	13
Definitions	14
Prescription drug readers	14
Terminal distributors	14
Health benefit plans and Medicaid	15

DETAILED ANALYSIS

Financial products involving motor vehicles

Overview

Continuing law exempts certain maintenance, value protection, and repair products offered in connection with the sale or lease of a motor vehicle from state insurance laws. The bill expands the types of products that qualify for that exemption. It also modifies some of the requirements associated with those products, including requirements involving invoicing, cancellation, and surety.

Excess wear and use waivers

The bill creates a new class of motor vehicle products, referred to as "excess wear and use waivers," that are exempt from state insurance laws. A vehicle lease agreement typically stipulates how many miles the person leasing the vehicle may drive the vehicle each year for the duration of the lease. For example, it is common for leases to allow up to 10,000 or 12,000 miles per year. At the end of the lease, a fee is paid for each mile driven beyond the allotted amount. Excess wear and use waivers effectively nullify those fees.

Under the bill, an "excess wear and use waiver" is defined as any contractual agreement that is part of, or a separate addendum to, a lease agreement for use of a motor vehicle, under which the lessor (the entity providing the vehicle) agrees, with or without a separate charge, to do one or both of the following:

- Cancel or waive all or part of amounts that may become due under a lease agreement as a result of excess wear and use of a motor vehicle;
- Cancel or waive amounts due for excess mileage.

The bill specifies that the terms of a lease are not to be conditioned upon the consumer's payment for any excess wear and use waiver. Excess wear and use waivers may be discounted or given at no extra charge in connection with the purchase of other noncredit related goods or services.¹

Debt cancellation or debt suspension products

A "debt cancellation or debt suspension product" is an agreement, exempt from state insurance laws, that cancels any debt associated with a motor vehicle that is destroyed or stolen. Under continuing law, the term includes a guaranteed asset protection waiver, guaranteed auto protection waiver, or any other similarly named agreement. The bill adds that a debt cancellation or debt suspension product may also provide a benefit that waives an amount, or provides a borrower with a credit, towards the purchase of a replacement motor vehicle. Such a benefit may be included with or without a separate charge.

Current law requires the charges associated with debt cancellation or debt suspension products to be listed as a specific good. In other words, the charge cannot be lumped in with the total purchase price for the vehicle. Under the bill, this requirement applies only to "optional" debt cancelation or debt suspension products. Consequently, it appears that when a retail seller conditions the sale of a motor vehicle on the consumer's purchase of a debt cancellation or debt suspension product, that product need not be itemized, and may be lumped into the total purchase price.

Furthermore, the bill specifies that optional debt cancellation or debt suspension products are not to be considered a finance charge or interest. Under continuing law, a finance charge is an amount paid or contracted to a retail seller for the privilege of paying the principal balance of the transaction in installments over time. Ohio law caps the amount that a retail seller may collect as a finance charge or interest. The bill seemingly exempts optional debt cancellation or debt suspension products from those limits. In addition, finance charges are subject to certain disclosure requirements under the federal "Truth in Lending Act" (TILA). It is not clear what, if any, affect the bill would have on the application of TILA to debt cancellation or debt suspension products.²

Ancillary product protection contracts

Under current law, an ancillary product protection contract provides for the repair or replacement of specified parts or components of a motor vehicle. The bill adds two new types of products that qualify as an ancillary product protection contract and, therefore, are exempted from state insurance laws. It also extends the exemption to contracts involving under-speed vehicles and establishes alternatives to the current requirement that all contracts be covered by a reimbursement insurance policy.

¹ R.C. 1310.251.

² R.C. 1317.05(B); R.C. 1317.01, 1317.06, and 1343.01, not in the bill; 15 United States Code (U.S.C.) 1601, *et. seq*.

Protection against lease-end charges

The bill expands the services that qualify as motor vehicle ancillary product protection contracts to include, in conjunction with a leased vehicle, both of the following:

- The repair, replacement, or maintenance of property, or indemnification for repair, replacement, or maintenance, due to excess wear and use, damage for items such as tires, paint cracks or chips, missing interior or exterior parts, or excess mileage that results in a lease-end charge; and
- Any other charge for damage that is deemed as excess wear and use by a lessor under a motor vehicle lease.

The bill specifies that such services do not qualify as a motor vehicle ancillary product protection contract if the charge exceeds the purchase price of the vehicle at the end of the lease term. It appears that an excess wear and use waiver, described above, would qualify as an ancillary product protection contract in at least some cases.³

Vehicle value protection agreements

The bill also specifies that a motor vehicle ancillary product protection contract includes a vehicle value protection agreement.

Characteristics

When a motor vehicle is damaged, lost, stolen, or otherwise depreciates in value, these agreements provide a benefit towards either the reduction of some or all of the contract holder's current finance agreement deficiency balance (such as an amount still owed on a vehicle loan or lease agreement), or towards the purchase or lease of a replacement motor vehicle or motor vehicle services. Under the bill, "vehicle value protection agreement" includes trade-in-credit agreements, diminished value agreements, depreciation benefit agreements, or other similar agreements. "Vehicle value protection agreement" include a debt suspension or debt cancellation product.⁴ "Finance agreement" is defined as a loan or retail installment contract secured by a motor vehicle or a lease.⁵

Cancellation by contract holder

The bill specifies that a vehicle value protection agreement may be canceled by the contract holder within 30 days of the effective date of the agreement. If the agreement is cancelled, the contract holder is entitled to a full refund of the purchase price, so long as no benefits have been paid under the agreement.⁶

For those vehicle value protection agreements that allow the contract holder to cancel the agreement *more* than 30 days after the effective date of the agreement, the agreement must

³ R.C. 3905.426(A)(4)(a)(vi).

⁴ R.C. 3905.426(A)(2), (A)(4)(a)(vii), and (A)(10).

⁵ R.C. 3905.426(A)(2).

⁶ R.C. 3905.426(E).

state the conditions under which it may be canceled, including the procedures for requesting any refund of the purchase price paid by the contract holder and the methodology for calculating any refund of the purchase price.⁷

Any refund provided in response to a cancellation initiated by the contract holder is required to be paid to the seller or assignee of a retail installment contract or lease agreement unless otherwise agreed to by the contract holder and the seller or assignee.⁸

Cancellation by contract provider

If a vehicle value protection agreement is cancelled by the contract provider, the provider is required to mail a written notice to the contract holder at the holder's last known address at least five days prior to cancellation. Prior notice is not required if the reason for cancellation is nonpayment of the provider fee, a material misrepresentation by the contract holder to the contract provider or administrator, or a substantial breach of duties by the contract holder relating to the covered product or the use of the covered product. Such a notice must state the effective date of the cancellation and the reason for the cancellation.

If a vehicle value protection agreement is canceled by the contract provider for a reason other than nonpayment of the provider fee, the provider is required to refund to the contract holder 100% of the "unearned" provider fee paid by the contract holder, if any. The bill does not specify how or when all, or a portion of, the fee is earned by the contract provider. If coverage under the vehicle value protection agreement continues after a claim, then the bill specifies that all paid claims may be deducted from any required refund. A reasonable administrative fee of up to \$75 may be charged by the contract provider and deducted from any refund due to cancellation.⁹

Under-speed vehicles

The bill amends the definition of "motor vehicle" to include an under-speed vehicle, which is a three- or four-wheeled vehicle that can go less than 20 miles per hour and has a weight of less than 3,000 pounds.¹⁰ In effect, this change exempts ancillary product protection contracts involving under-speed vehicles from insurance laws.

Retail installment contracts

The bill modifies the allowable terms in a retail installment contract. A retail installment sale is any contract, consumer transaction, or retail sale in which a specific good is paid for in installments over time. These transactions are governed by the Retail Sales Installment Act, which applies to all goods that meet both of the following:

⁷ R.C. 3905.426(F).

⁸ R.C. 3905.426(H).

⁹ R.C. 3905.426(G).

¹⁰ R.C. 3905.426(A).

- The goods are moveable at the time of identification for sale or identification to the contract for sale;
- The goods are purchased primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.¹¹

Under current law, a retail installment contract must require that the price and all related charges be paid in accordance with a schedule of substantially equal consecutive installments, except where the contract allows the buyer to refinance the contract under terms no less favorable than those of the original contract after making any required refund credit.

Under the bill, a retail installment contract need only require that the cash price and all related charges to be paid in accordance with a schedule of periodic installments. Those installments need not be consecutive or substantially equal. However, if the contract contains a final scheduled installment that is more than two times the average of all prior scheduled installments, the contract must allow the buyer to refinance the contract under terms no less favorable than those of the original contract after making any required refunds.¹²

Note that under the bill, the contract is only required to allow the buyer to refinance the contract under terms no less favorable than the original contract if the *final* payment is more than two times the average of all prior scheduled installments. If the second to last installment, or any other installment, is greater than two times the average of all prior scheduled installments the contract under terms that are as favorable.

Replica motor vehicles

The bill establishes requirements for registration, title, and use of replica motor vehicles. A "replica motor vehicle" is a motor vehicle that is constructed, assembled, or modified to replicate the make, model, and model year of a motor vehicle that is at least 25 years old.¹³ The bill authorizes specific exemptions related to motor vehicle registration and equipment requirements for replica motor vehicles. However, to take advantage of these exemptions, the replica motor vehicle must be titled as a replica motor vehicle and may not be used for general transportation. Replica motor vehicles that are not titled pursuant to the bill's procedures are subject to general motor vehicle registration, titling, and equipment requirements.¹⁴

Replica motor vehicle registration

To register the replica motor vehicle, the owner must execute an affidavit that the replica motor vehicle will be used only for the following purposes:

1. Club activities, exhibitions, tour, parades, and similar uses; and

¹¹ R.C. 1317.01(A) and (C), not in the bill.

¹² R.C. 1317.06(C).

¹³ R.C. 4501.01(III).

¹⁴ R.C. 4505.072(E).

2. Travel to and from a location where maintenance is performed on the replica motor vehicle.¹⁵

Additionally, the affidavit must declare that the State Highway Patrol inspected the replica motor vehicle and found it safe to operate on public roads and highways. In lieu of the regular registration taxes and fees, the owner must pay a one-time, \$10 license fee to the Registrar or deputy registrar for the registration of the replica vehicle, similar to the fee for historical vehicles. Proceeds of the fee must be deposited in the Public Safety – Highway Purposes Fund created under current law.¹⁶

The owner of a replica motor vehicle must display a replica motor vehicle license plate in plain view on the rear of the vehicle. A replica motor vehicle license plate must display the inscription "Replica Vehicle – Ohio" and the registration number assigned to the replica vehicle. Unlike a historical vehicle, no vehicle date of manufacture is to be listed on a replica vehicle license plate. While a replica motor vehicle does not require annual registration, if the owner transfers the replica motor vehicle to a new owner, the new owner must re-register the replica motor vehicle through the same procedures.¹⁷

Replica motor vehicle designation on certificate of title

Under the bill, a person who wants the certificate of title to indicate that a motor vehicle is a replica motor vehicle must do the following:

- 1. Have the State Highway Patrol inspect the vehicle;
- 2. Obtain an inspection report from the Patrol;
- 3. Obtain a signed written statement from a person or nonprofit corporation with expertise in historical motor vehicles that the motor vehicle reasonably replicates the motor vehicle that the owner intends to replicate; and
- 4. Sign and notarize the written statement.¹⁸

If these conditions are met, and a motor vehicle owner requests that the certificate of title indicate that the motor vehicle is a replica motor vehicle, the common pleas court clerk must issue to the owner the requested certificate of title. If a motor vehicle is titled as replica motor vehicle, any future owner of the motor vehicle must title it as a replica motor vehicle. The Registrar must ensure that this certificate of title:

- 1. Is in the same form as the original certificate of title;
- 2. Displays the word "REPLICA" in black boldface letters;

¹⁵ R.C. 4503.183(A) and (C).

¹⁶ R.C. 4503.183(B) and (C).

¹⁷ R.C. 4503.183.

¹⁸ R.C. 4505.072(A).

- 3. Includes the make, model, and model year of the motor vehicle the owner intends to replicate; and
- 4. Includes the year the replica motor vehicle was constructed, assembled, or modified.¹⁹

The Registrar must develop an automated procedure within the automated title processing system for this process.²⁰ The owner of a replica motor vehicle that is titled pursuant to these procedures must obtain replica motor vehicle license plates and comply with the general registration and operation limitations of a replica motor vehicle.²¹

Equipment exemptions for replica motor vehicles

The bill exempts replica motor vehicles, that are titled as such, from the following:

- 1. The general provision that motor vehicles must have stop lights (only if the replica motor vehicle replicates a motor vehicle that was not originally manufactured with stop lights);
- 2. Emissions, noise control, and fuel usage provisions that were enacted or adopted after the year of manufacture that the vehicle replicates.²²

Additionally, the bill specifies that a person cannot be prohibited from owning or operating a replica motor vehicle that is equipped with an item that did not violate a motor equipment law that was in effect in the calendar year it replicates. Similarly, the person cannot be prohibited from owning or operating a replica motor vehicle that fails to comply with an equipment requirement that was adopted in a year subsequent to the year of manufacture of the vehicle that the replica motor vehicle replicates. For example, if a replica motor vehicle replicates a 1955 Ford Thunderbird, the owner of the replica motor vehicle does not need to comply with equipment requirements adopted after 1955.²³

Effective date

The bill has a delayed effective date. The bill's changes take effect 180 days after the bill is enacted.²⁴

Expired registration on a rental motor vehicle

The bill provides an exemption to an operator of a rental motor vehicle from the prohibition against driving without a valid motor vehicle registration. Specifically, the exemption prohibits a peace officer or state highway patrol officer from *charging* and a court from *convicting* an operator of a rental motor vehicle when the follow apply:

¹⁹ R.C. 4505.072(D) and 4505.08.

²⁰ R.C. 4505.072(B), (C), and (D).

²¹ R.C. 4505.072(E).

²² R.C. 4513.071 and 4513.41.

²³ R.C. 4513.38.

²⁴ Section 3.

- The operator has a valid and effective rental agreement with a motor vehicle renting dealer;
- At the time of the offense, the operator provides a valid written agreement to the peace officer or state highway patrol officer enforcing the prohibition; and
- The operator has not removed, concealed, or modified the license plate or validation sticker attached to the rental motor vehicle by the motor vehicle renting dealer.²⁵

If the operator is unable to provide an officer with a written agreement at the time of the offense, the operator may submit a copy of the agreement to the court before or during the operator's hearing. In this case, the court must dismiss any ticket issued to the operator. However, if the court imposes liability, the bill provides that the registered owner of the rental motor vehicle is liable, instead of the operator. Such liability extends to any fees, fines, and penalties arising from the violation of the prohibition.²⁶

Current law requires an owner or operator of a motor vehicle to display the assigned license plate in plain view and to the rear of the motor vehicle. The license plate must display the distinctive number and registration mark assigned to the motor vehicle, including any county identification sticker and a validation sticker.²⁷

Ohio Assigned Risk Insurance Plan

The bill requires insurance agents to meet certain due diligence requirements prior to submitting an application for automobile insurance to the Ohio Assigned Risk Insurance Plan (OARIP). The OARIP provides automobile insurance to licensed drivers that are unable to purchase automobile insurance through Ohio's voluntary market due to a variety of factors, such as driving history or first-time driver status.

Due diligence under the bill requires an insurance agent to contact at least five of the insurers the agents represents or, if the agent does not represent five insurers that generally provide automobile insurance, as many of such insurers as the agent represents. An insurance agent may assume that insurance coverage cannot be obtained after each insurer contacted declines coverage. An insurer is deemed to have declined coverage if the insurer fails to respond within ten days after the agent makes contact. Insurance agents are further prohibited from submitting an application to the OARIP if any other insurer eligible to do business in this state has in any way communicated a willingness to insure the applicant, even if the coverage provided by OARIP costs less than other insurers.

²⁵ R.C. 4503.211(B).

²⁶ R.C. 4503.211(C) and (D).

²⁷ R.C. 4503.21(A).

The OARIP may revoke the authority of any agent who fails to comply with these requirements to submit applications to the OARIP, with OARIP having sole authority over making final determinations as to whether an insurance agent has met the due diligence requirement.²⁸

Uninsured drivers

The bill expands the persons who may report a driver or owner of a motor vehicle involved in an accident to the Bureau of Motor Vehicles (BMV) for failure to maintain financial responsibility. Under current law, the driver of any motor vehicle which is in any manner involved in a motor vehicle accident may, within six months after the accident, forward a written report of the accident to the BMV alleging that the driver or owner of any other vehicle involved in the accident was uninsured at the time of the accident. Under the bill, any person who is involved in such an accident, including as the driver of a motor vehicle, the owner of property, or any other person sustaining bodily injury or property damage as a result of the accident, may make such a report to the BMV.²⁹

Under continuing law, maintained by the bill, any person who is unable to provide proof of insurance or other form of financial responsibility are subject to the following civil penalties:

- For a first offense suspension of the person's driver's license until specified conditions are met and a reinstatement fee of \$40;
- For a second offense within five years of the first offense suspension of the person's driver's license for a period of one year and a reinstatement fee of \$300;
- For a third or subsequent offense within five years of the first offense suspension of the person's driver's license for a period of two years and a reinstatement fee of \$600.³⁰

Madeline's Law

Hearing aid coverage

The bill requires health benefit plans to provide coverage for the cost of both of the following:

- One hearing aid (including attachments, accessories, and parts other than batteries and cords) per hearing-impaired ear up to \$2,500 every 48 months for a covered person 21 years old or younger; and
- All related services prescribed by an otolaryngologist or recommended by a licensed audiologist and dispensed by a licensed audiologist, licensed hearing aid dealer, or otolaryngologist.³¹

²⁸ R.C. 4509.70(H)(6).

²⁹ R.C. 4509.06(A).

³⁰ R.C. 4509.101(A), not in the bill.

³¹ R.C. 3902.63(B).

A covered person may choose a hearing aid at any price, but the bill does not require the health benefit plan to cover any costs beyond \$2,500 per hearing aid, in any 48-month period. Moreover, if a covered person chooses a more expensive hearing aid, the health plan issuer is prohibited from imposing any financial or contractual penalty on the covered person or hearing aid provider.³²

The bill allows a health plan issuer to deny a claim for a hearing aid if, less than 48 months prior to the claim, the covered person received the coverage identified above from any other health benefit plan.³³

A health benefit plan is required to cover only hearing aids that are medically appropriate. Health benefit plans may not exclude coverage for any hearing aid that is medically appropriate. The State Speech and Hearing Professionals Board is required to adopt professional standards concerning hearing aids as needed to evaluate a health benefit plan's compliance with the bill's requirements.³⁴

Exemption from review by the Superintendent of Insurance

The bill's coverage requirement might be considered a mandated health benefit. Under R.C. 3901.71, if the General Assembly enacts a provision for mandated health benefits, that provision cannot be applied to any health benefit plan until the Superintendent of Insurance determines that the provision can be applied fully and equally in all respects to employee benefit plans subject to regulation by the federal "Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974" (ERISA),³⁵ and to employee benefit plans established or modified by the state or any of its political subdivisions. ERISA appears to preempt any state regulation of such plans.³⁶ The bill contains provisions that exempt its requirements from this restriction.³⁷

Name of the bill

The bill names the hearing aid coverage requirement "Madeline's Law" after an Ohio girl whose parents brought this topic to the attention of legislators after learning that insurance frequently does not cover the cost of hearing aids for children, and may consider them to be cosmetic.³⁸

³² R.C. 3902.63(C).

³³ R.C. 3902.63(D).

³⁴ R.C. 3902.63(E).

³⁵ 29 U.S.C. 1001, not in the bill.

³⁶ 29 U.S.C. 1144, not in the bill.

³⁷ R.C. 3902.63(B).

³⁸ Section 2; *see also* <u>Madeline's Law would require Ohio insurance plans to cover children's hearing aids</u>, which may be accessed by conducting a keyword search for "Madeline's law" on Cleveland.com's website: <u>cleveland.com</u>.

Definitions

"Hearing aid" means any wearable instrument or device designed or offered for the purpose of aiding or compensating for impaired human hearing, including all attachments, accessories, and parts thereof, except batteries and cords, that is dispensed by a licensed audiologist, a licensed hearing aid dealer or fitter, or an otolaryngologist.

"Otolaryngologist" means a licensed physician who practices otolaryngology.

"**Related services**" means services necessary to assess, select, and appropriately adjust or fit a hearing aid to ensure optimal performance.

"Health plan issuer" includes sickness and accident insurers, health insuring corporations, fraternal benefit societies, self-funded multiple employer welfare arrangements, nonfederal government health plans, and under certain circumstances third party administrators.³⁹

Prescription drug readers

A "prescription reader" is a device that audibly conveys the information that is required to be included on a prescription label for a patient who is visually impaired or otherwise would have difficulty reading the label. The information to be audibly conveyed includes any cautions required by federal and state law, as well as information regarding drug interactions, contraindications, and side effects that are provided to sighted patients and patients who have no difficulty reading a label.⁴⁰

Terminal distributors

Prior to selling a prescription drug at retail, the bill requires a licensed terminal distributor of dangerous drugs, such as a pharmacy, to notify the person purchasing the drug that a prescription reader can be made available. The terminal distributor must provide the notice as follows:

- For in-person transactions, the notice must be provided if the terminal distributor has reason to believe that the purchaser is blind or visually impaired or is purchasing the drug on behalf of a patient who is blind or visually impaired.
- For transactions in which the drug will be delivered to a patient by mail, parcel post, or common carrier, the notice must be provided to the person purchasing the drug.⁴¹

If the person requests the reader, the terminal distributor must provide one for the duration of the prescription. $^{\rm 42}$

The bill provides that its requirements do not apply when:

³⁹ R.C. 3922.01, not in the bill.

⁴⁰ R.C. 4729.362(D)(4) and 5164.093(B).

⁴¹ R.C. 4729.362(A)(2).

⁴² R.C. 4729.362(A)(1).

- A drug is personally furnished by a prescriber;
- The licensed terminal distributor dispensing the drug is any of the following: a pharmacy dispensing a drug as part of Ohio's existing drug repository program; a pharmacy in a jail, state or federal correctional institution, or juvenile detention facility; a pharmacy operated by a government entity; or an institutional pharmacy.⁴³

The bill defines "institutional pharmacy" as a pharmacy that is part of, or operated in conjunction with, any of the following health care facilities: an ambulatory surgical facility, nursing home, residential care facility, freestanding rehabilitation facility, hospice care program, home and community-based services provider, residential facility for individuals with mental illness or developmental disabilities. It specifically includes (1) a pharmacy on the premises of a health care facility that provides a system of distributing and supplying medication to the facility or its patients, whether or not operated by the facility, and (2) a pharmacy off the premises of a health care facility that provides services only to patients of one or more health care facilities.⁴⁴

The bill specifies that it does not affect any law relative to labeling requirements for drugs.⁴⁵ Existing federal and state laws and regulations address what must be included on prescription drug labels.⁴⁶

Health benefit plans and Medicaid

The bill also requires health benefit plans, the Medicaid program, and each Medicaid managed care organization (MCO) and Medicaid MCO plan to cover prescription readers provided by a licensed terminal distributor of dangerous drugs, such as a pharmacy, pursuant to **"Terminal distributors**" above.⁴⁷

"Health benefit plan" means an agreement offered by a health plan issuer to provide or reimburse the costs of health care services. "Health benefit plan" also means a limited benefit plan, except for a policy that covers only accident, dental, disability income, long-term care, hospital indemnity, supplemental coverage, specified disease, vision care, and other specified types of coverage. "Health benefit plan" does not include a Medicare, Medicaid, or federal employee plan.⁴⁸

"Health plan issuer" means an entity subject to Ohio insurance laws that provides or reimburses the costs of health care services under a health benefit plan. The term includes a sickness and accident insurance company, a health insuring corporation, a fraternal benefit

⁴⁵ R.C. 4729.362(C).

⁴³ R.C. 4729.362(B).

⁴⁴ R.C. 4729.362(D)(2).

⁴⁶ See, e.g., 21 Code of Federal Regulations Part 201; Ohio Administrative Code 4729:5.

⁴⁷ R.C. 3902.64, 5164.093, and 5167.12(D).

⁴⁸ R.C. 3902.50 and 3922.01, not in the bill.

society, a self-funded multiple employer welfare arrangement, a nonfederal government health plan, or a third-party administrator.⁴⁹

HISTORY			
Action	Date		
Introduced	09-19-23		
Reported, S. Insurance	06-26-24		
Passed Senate (30-1)	06-26-24		
Reported, H. Insurance			

ansb0157rh-135/ks

⁴⁹ R.C. 3902.50 and 3922.01, not in the bill.